
 

 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 

MEETING MINUTES 

 

October 30, 2006 

 
PRESENT:  
Douglas W. Lyon, Chair, Board of Selectmen  
Mark Kaplan, Selectman 
Ruth I. Clough, Selectman  
Jessie Levine, Town Administrator 
 

OTHERS PRESENT: 

Linda Hardy, Town Clerk/Tax Collector 
DJ Lavoie, New London resident 
Debbie Cross, Intertown Record 
 
Chair Lyon called the meeting to order at 8:00 AM. 

Meeting Minutes: Ms. Clough moved to approve the minutes of October 23 and October 28, 2006.  
Second Mr. Kaplan and approved 3-0. 

Planning Board Recap: Ms. Clough reported that Harry Snow had met with the Planning Board on 
October 24 and had presented a conceptual plan for a 7-lot subdivision off Bog Road on the east side of 
Messer Pond.  The lots are fairly large and there is a significant buffer from Messer Pond.  The Planning 
Board has asked Mr. Snow to address the setbacks from the contiguous wetlands. 

In addition, Rob Daley returned to the Planning Board to amend the site plan for the former Jesseman 
property on Little Sunapee Road.  This is a very crowded lot and his business appears to have outgrown 
the site and he has more employees than he has room for parking.  He leased parking spaces from the 
Lamplighter but needs more room.  He asked the Planning Board to waive some of the requirements, such 
as buffers around the parking areas, but the Planning Board did not think there were safety concerns to 
justify the waivers.  Mr. Daley has not yet met the stipulations required as part of the earlier site plan. 

Also, Erin Andersen, wife of Police Sergeant Ed Andersen, met with the Planning Board to discuss the 
barbershop that she plans to open under the New London Inn.  The Planning Board waived site plan 
review. 

Solid Waste Update: Mr. Kaplan reported that he had attended a meeting of the NH/VT Solid Waste 
Project on October 25, and members voted to dissolve the project as of June 30, 2007, with a vote of 27-
2.  That is the first step in a two-step process.  Next, both the NH and VT Solid Waste Districts will have 
to meet to decide their futures.  The NH District will meet on November 9, and Mr. Kaplan plans to 
recommend that an agent be appointed to oversee the distribution of funds when the Project dissolves in 
June.  We will remove ourselves from the District and file a separate solid waste plan with DES. 

Chair Lyon asked if there will be pressure on Wheelabrator to reduce the tipping fee when the contract 
expires and it loses that tonnage.  Mr. Kaplan believes that pressure would exist, although Ms. Levine 
noted that Wheelabrator had actually increased its proposed tipping fee rather than decreasing it.  Ms. 
Levine said that Casella had lowered its tipping fee further, and the cost to haul trash to Bethlehem will be 
$275, rather than $435 as anticipated to Berlin.  She proposes to remove the private roll-offs from the 



Board of Selectmen Meeting Minutes         
October 30, 2006 
Page 2 of 5 
 
Town’s contract, as they may find a better price on their own.  Chair Lyon will talk to the Hospital about 
a joint effort. 

Milfoil: Ms. Levine noted that the Little Sunapee Protective Association returned over $900 unspent 
funds related to milfoil prevention.  This is the second year in a row that they have returned the funds.  
The Selectmen commended the Lake Association for its management of the funds, and noted that there 
were fewer boats than in past years, most likely due to the weather.  Mr. Kaplan said there was one save 
(milfoil found on a boat destined for the lake) at Lake Sunapee. 

Sewer Commission: Ms. Levine reminded the Selectmen that the Sewer Commission planned to set the 
rate at its October 31 meeting.  All three Selectmen plan to attend the meeting. 

Town Clerk/Tax Collector Update: At 8:30 AM, the Selectmen were joined by Town Clerk/Tax Collector 
Linda Hardy.  Ms. Clough welcomed Ms. Hardy and told her of the complimentary comments at this 
weekend’s Citizen’s Advisory Committee meeting.  Ms. Hardy explained that she and Joan Pankhurst had 
worked with the Supervisors of the Checklist – Dana Stanley, Celeste Cook, and Arlene Marshall -- to 
bring the voter registration database up-to-date.  When the State had first started the on-line database, in a 
rush to enter all voter information it had defaulted to a birth date of 1/5/76 and a birthplace of Uganda.  
All of that information had to be corrected for the 3400 New London voters.  Ms. Hardy returned the 
compliment to the Supervisors. 

Ms. Levine said that tax bills will go out this week, and the office has been discussing the inserted 
announcements and wanted to run some ideas by the Selectmen.  Ms. Hardy said that one topic she 
wanted to discuss with the Selectmen was whether to sign up for electronic billing run by a third party, 
MCC, which will allow New London residents to pay their tax bills on-line using ACH (e-checking) or by 
credit card.  She said that residents would be able to go to the Town’s website and click on a link to the 
payment option.  Her office would send the company electronic records with the property and invoice 
amount, and they would receive back payment information that could be automatically downloaded into 
the municipal tax payment software and closed out at the end of the day.  She said there is no fee for the 
Town to set up and use the system but there are costs for the taxpayer:  it would cost $0.25 for ACH 
transfers and 2.75% of the bill amount for credit card payments.   

Ms. Hardy said that she had spoken with the tax collector in Newmarket, who has used the program for 
some time, for both utility and property tax bills as well as town and state fees for motor vehicle 
registration and dog licenses.  She said that the option may be convenient for residents, although the fee is 
high.  The Newmarket tax collector worked with the towns’ software company, Munismart, to make the 
file transfer work properly. 

Mr. Kaplan said the user cost seemed very high, and Ms. Hardy agreed and added that this would be an 
option for taxpayers but they do not have to use it.  Chair Lyon said that for a $3400 tax bill, the taxpayer 
would pay almost $100 in credit card fees.  Ms. Hardy said some might want the air miles or cash back.  
She said that in Newmarket, over 500 people have used the service since February, although she noted 
that their population is higher than New London’s.  Ms. Hardy repeated that the residents do not have to 
use the on-line credit card payment, although many have asked the Town to take credit cards for bill 
payment.  She said there is no town in New Hampshire that takes credit cards over the counter, due to the 
fees involved.   

Mr. Kaplan asked Ms. Hardy if it were her recommendation for the Town to use this service, and Ms. 
Hardy said yes, this is a way to accommodate people who prefer to pay by credit card and another service 
her office can offer with no added fee to the Town.  She said she will work hard to make sure people 
know that there will be a fee involved, and that the Town has no control over it.  Ms. Clough asked if the 
service would help the Town Clerk/Tax Collector’s office, and Ms. Hardy said it would be a timesaver to 



Board of Selectmen Meeting Minutes         
October 30, 2006 
Page 3 of 5 
 
receive information on the electronic payments all at once, and the software will automatically post the 
payments.  Currently, they work with one property tax service for the banks in the area, and the automatic 
posting saves time and is accurate. 

Chair Lyon asked if only public data would be sent to the billing company, and Ms. Hardy replied in the 
affirmative.  Chair Lyon said he predicts that people who are used to no fees will be astonished to find out 
the extent of the fees for this program, and he expects that the Town Offices will receive some flack.  He 
advised Ms. Hardy to publicize widely.  Ms. Levine said the only other alternative she has heard of 
required an extensive start-up fee by the town. 

DJ Lavoie asked if MCC worked with Visa, and Ms. Hardy replied that they currently do not, but they are 
working on it.  Mr. Kaplan asked when the transaction fee would be posted to the credit card, and Ms. 
Levine said she imagines it would be simultaneous with the payment of the tax bill.  Ms. Levine said she 
would expect some people to use it around December 1 to avoid late payment of the tax bill. 

Ms. Hardy said New London is a great town to collect taxes in.  She suggested using the service to see 
what people think of it, and if there is too much negative feedback, they can walk away from the program. 
Ms. Hardy said she will work with MCC to set up the service by mid-November.   

Ms. Hardy said she also wanted to talk to the Selectmen about the Municipal Agent Automation Program 
(MAAP), which allows towns to go on-line with the State Department of Motor Vehicles and expand the 
functions that can be handled within the Town Clerk’s office.  She said that by not being on-line, her 
office cannot do all motor vehicles transactions, such as vanity plates, moose plates, heavy vehicles, etc.  
People have to go to Sunapee, Lebanon, Claremont or Concord to finish these transactions, which takes 
revenue away from the Town. She has patiently been waiting for Munismart to develop compatible 
software and be certified by the State, but that has been pushed back again to February 2007.  She would 
like to go on-line with the State as a “browser town,” which would allow them to be up and running much 
sooner.  Ms. Levine said that by waiting and going on-line through Munismart, the Town would incur 
costs that would be avoided by going on-line directly with the State.  Ms. Hardy agreed and said that the 
State provides the necessary computers, printers, and support, which would cost the Town between 
$4,000-10,000 if conducted through Munismart.  A representative from the State is coming on 
Wednesday to evaluate her office.  She said that the only drawback she can see to becoming a browser 
town is that some transactions would have to be double-entered into Munismart so that the cash receipts 
were recorded in the Town’s system.  She has talked to other towns, such as Sunapee, that have to double 
enter, and those towns have not found it to be burdensome.   

Ms. Hardy said this is another important customer service option that would generate additional revenue 
for the town, and she would like to move forward with becoming a browser town.  She hopes it would be 
on-line by January 1 for a clean start to the next fiscal year.  Ms. Lavoie asked for a definition of browser 
town, and Ms. Hardy replied that it means her office would be on-line with the State’s computers for 
motor vehicle transactions.  Chair Lyon said he has no problem with moving ahead, but that eventually 
she may want to work through Munismart.  Ms. Hardy agreed, although she said she did not want to delay 
activation.  Ms. Levine said it is not a bad idea to let other towns be guinea pigs for the new Munismart 
program and let them work out the bugs. 

On a related question, Ms. Levine referred to RSA 261:153, which allows towns to adopt a fee of up to $5 
for motor vehicle registrations, a portion of which goes into the town general fund and the remainder goes 
into a reserve fund for transportation improvements, such as roads, bridges, sidewalks, etc.  She said that 
periodically, the town manager e-mail list discusses this option, which a number of towns have adopted.  
She raised the question to the Budget Committee the last time it came up, and most members responded 
that the Town should not adopt another fee.  Chair Lyon agreed with that notion, saying that Town 
Meeting had always approved requests for appropriate funding, and this seemed like a backdoor method 



Board of Selectmen Meeting Minutes         
October 30, 2006 
Page 4 of 5 
 
of raising funds.  He said the biggest gainers of the proposal would be non-resident taxpayers, who do not 
register their cars here yet would benefit from improvements funded by this fee.  He noted that Town 
Meeting would have to approve the fee, but said he does not think it is a battle worth fighting.  If the 
Town needed $20,000 for a capital reserve fund, the Selectmen should make the case for the funding.  He 
said fees for car registration are irritations for most residents already, though Ms. Hardy noted that it is 
the same fee throughout the State and is not unique to New London.  Ms. Clough said she could see 
adopting a fee less than $5, but $5 seemed too high.  Mr. Kaplan said they should avoid nickel-and-
diming the residents, but he will bring up the question at the next Budget Committee meeting.  The 
Selectmen tabled the discussion for now. 

Ms. Hardy said she also wanted to talk to the Selectmen about boat registrations, and referred to a press 
release from the Town Clerks’ Association regarding the State’s apparent move to take boat registrations 
from the towns.  She said that the State implied that by registering boats directly with the State, boat 
owners are helping the State.  She pointed out that the revenue is being taken from the towns that rely on 
boat registration as part of their non-tax revenue.  In addition, the State has not signed contracts with the 
towns as boat agents, and has not sent decals to the towns to enable local boat registration.  She said the 
State tried to get legislation changed to eliminate or reduce the towns’ portion of the fee, and it was not 
supported by the Legislature.  This is seen by town clerks as a backdoor method to achieve the same goal.  
The Selectmen asked Ms. Levine to send a letter to the Town’s representatives. 

Ms. Hardy said the final topic for discussion with the Selectmen is that the Town is the recipient of a vital 
records improvement grant of up to $10,000 to help with the assessment and planning for the storage of 
vital records, the first of two phases.  She said the State is working with a vendor to help the towns that 
received the first phase grant apply for the second phase to conduct the necessary work.  This led to a 
discussion of electronic vs. paper record storage, and Ms. Hardy said that New London is very much a 
paper-based state.  Chair Lyon suggested that she pursue this project, but that electronic record storage is 
the way of the future.  Ms. Levine asked if there was a match requirement for the grant, and Ms. Hardy 
said there is not. 

Ms. Levine asked if new ballots had been received, as Randy Foose had advised her that the Secretary of 
State’s office planned to print new ballots.  Ms. Hardy said they had not yet received the ballots.  Chair 
Lyon and the Selectmen thanked Ms. Hardy for the update, and she departed the meeting. 

Fiber Project Update: Ms. Levine said that she and a number of other members of the fiber project had 
traveled to the City of Burlington, Vermont, to look at their fiber network and facilities.  It was 
impressive.  The group is meeting this coming Thursday to discuss the pros and cons of the Packetfront 
and Burlington Telecom option, and active vs. passive networks.  She will report further at a later date. 

Reverse 911: Ms. Levine said the Reverse 911 demo on October 25 was well-attended and the program 
seems compatible with the area towns’ needs, though expensive.  She is waiting for a proposal from TDS 
and ClassCo., but at least the towns of Newbury, Sunapee and New London would like to fund the 
purchase. 

There being no further business, the Selectmen signed the items below. 

Building Permits: 

• Brian J. and Mary E. Wicenski, Pleasant Street (Map 061, Lot 014-002), permit to demolish 48’ x 25’ 
pool wing – Approved (Permit 06-104) 

• New London Family Limited Partnership, 142 Blueberry Lane (Map 098, 003), permit to demolish 
maple house and construct cabin – Approved (Permit 06-138) 



Board of Selectmen Meeting Minutes         
October 30, 2006 
Page 5 of 5 
 

• Michael and Lisa Wood, 34 Northwood Lane (Map 104, Lot 016), permit to expand 10’ x 10’ to 
existing deck, replace current deck and rails, and add staircase from existing deck to ground level - 
Approved (Permit 06-139) 

• Mark and Lori Ashton, 375 Little Sunapee Road (Map 046, Lot 013), permit to remove old shed and 
replace with 8’ x 10’ shed to new location on property – Approved (Permit 06-140) 

Sign Permit Applications:   
 

• Permanent Sign Permit Application by Erin Andersen, 353 Main Street (Map 084, Lot 089), for a 6’ 
square sign on a post and bracket indicating “Erin’s Haircuts for Men” – Approved 
 

• Temporary Sign Permit Application by New London Hospital for a 3’ square sandwich board sign to 
be placed at the Information Booth indicating “Friends of New London Hospital Rummage Sale on 
Saturday, April 28, 2007 from 8:00 AM – 2:00 PM” - Approved 

 
Other Items for Signature: 

• Disbursement & Payroll Vouchers for the week of October 30, 2006 – Approved 

• Property Tax Warrant for Second Billing 2006 in the amount of $7,284,206.77 - Approved 

• State of New Hampshire Local Health Officer Nomination for Donald F. Bent, PhD - Approved 

• Application for Use of Whipple Memorial Town Hall for David Cleveland’s Auditions for 
“Christmas Carol” on Wednesday, November 8, 2006 from 6 PM – 9 PM – Approved 

 
There being no further business, the Board of Selectmen adjourned the meeting at 10:10 AM. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
Jessie W. Levine 
Town Administrator 


